S214061

SUPREME COURT
FILED

Case No. S

NOV 0 5 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

FRIENDS OF THE COLLEGE OF SAN MATEO GARDENS

Petitioners and Respondents,

v.

SAN MATEO COUNTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT; SAN MATEO COUNTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES; and DOES 1 THROUGH 5, Respondents and Appellants

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division One, Case No.: A135892

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of San Mateo, The Honorable Clifford Cretan San Mateo County Superior Court No.: CIV 508656

PETITION FOR REVIEW

///	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

California Statutes

	<u>Ca</u>	moma Statutos
		Page(s)
Public Resources Code	section	21000 et seq 1 21005, subd. (b) 25, 26 21080, subd. (d) 1 21083.1 26 21092.1 4 21151 22 21166 passim 21167.2 4 21168 11 21168.5 11
	<u>Calif</u>	fornia Regulations
Cal. Code of Regulations, "CEQA Guidelines"	title 14 section	15000
	<u>]</u>	Miscellaneous
California Rules of Court, R	Rule 8.500 (b)	(1)
///		
111		
///		

I. PETITION

In January 2007, after completing project-level environmental review under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Pub. Resources Code, § 21000 et seq.), Respondents San Mateo Community College District and its Board of Trustees (together, "the District") approved a set of detailed facility improvements at the College of San Mateo ("the CSM project"). Plaintiff Friends of the College of San Mateo Gardens ("Friends") did not participate in that public process. However, more than four years later, Friends sued the District over modest actions it took in August 2011 to implement portions of CSM Project. Although the actions deviated somewhat from what was assumed in the Mitigated Negative Declaration ("MND") the Board of Trustees had adopted in 2007, the environmental effects of the changes were addressed in a detailed addendum to the MND.

Surprisingly, the First Division of the First Appellate District, in an unpublished Opinion dated September 26, 2013 ("Opinion", Ex. A, attached), has ordered that the District's actions be set aside. In doing so, the court treated the changes to the previously approved CSM Project as themselves constituting an entirely new "project" for purposes of CEQA, rather than as a modification to a previously approved project. The distinction is very important because changes to approved projects (as opposed to new projects) are subject to the policies embodied in Public Resources Code section 21166, the CEQA provision governing the preparation of subsequent Environmental Impact Reports ("SEIRs") and supplements to EIRs. In contrast, new projects are subject to the low threshold "fair argument" standard for preparing EIRs as set forth in Public Resources Code section 21080, subdivision (d). (See also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, div. 6., ch. 3 ["CEQA Guidelines" or "Guidelines"], § 15064, subd. (f)(1).)

In choosing to exhibit no deference whatsoever to the District's reasonable conception of its own actions, the Court of Appeal relied on a heavily criticized 2006 decision of the Third District Court of Appeal called *Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1288 (*Save Our Neighborhood*). In *Mani Brothers Real Estate Group v. City of Los Angeles* (2007) 153 Cal. App. 4th 1385, 1399-1401 ("*Mani Brothers*"), Division Two of the Second District Court of Appeal had the following to say about *Save Our Neighborhood*:

Even if Save Our Neighborhood was not distinguishable on its facts, its fundamental analysis is flawed. The court in Save Our Neighborhood tackled what it perceived to be the "threshold question [of] whether we are dealing with a change to a particular project or a new project altogether," and declared that "section 21166 and Guidelines section 15162 apply to the former but not the latter." (Save Our Neighborhood, supra, 140 Cal.App.4th at p. 1301.) This novel "new project" test does not provide an objective or useful framework. Drastic changes to a project might be viewed by some as transforming the project to a new project, while others may characterize the same drastic changes in a project as resulting in a dramatically modified project. Such labeling entails no specific guidelines and simply is not helpful to our analysis.

The "new project" test in Save Our Neighborhood, also inappropriately bypassed otherwise applicable statutory and regulatory provisions (i.e., § 21166; Guidelines, § 15162) when it considered it "a question of law for the court" whether the changed project was to be reviewed under section 21166 at all. (Save Our Neighborhood, supra, at p. 1297.) We disagree with that approach and view the issue of whether an agency proceeded properly in treating a project as subject to section 21166 not as a question of law, but rather as a question of the adequacy of evidence in the record to support the agency's determination.

The question of law approach employed in *Save Our Neighborhood* conflicts with the customary substantial evidence test discussed above and long used in all other cases. * * *

Treating the issue as a question of law, as the court did in Save Our Neighborhood, inappropriately undermines the deference due the agency in administrative matters. That principle of deference is otherwise honored by the substantial evidence test's resolution of any "reasonable doubts in favor of the administrative finding and decision." (Laurel Heights Improvement Assn. v. Regents of University of California, supra, 47 Cal.3d at p. 393.)

(Italics in original.)

Even though the Court of Appeal opinion in this case is unpublished, both the outcome and the court's reasoning clearly reveal a lack of "uniformity" amongst the appellate districts with respect to the interpretation and application of Public Resources Code section 21166 and parallel provisions of the Guidelines, sections 15162, 15163, and 15164. This case also raises "an important question of law," for reasons explained in detail below. Review in this case is thus appropriate under subdivision (b)(1) of Rule 8.500 of the California Rules of Court. In an age in which on-line legal services make unpublished appellate opinions available to all, even an unpublished case can do much mischief, not to mention create a needlessly harsh and unjust result on the losing party (here a Community College District with a limited budget and mission to serve its students).

As is well known, CEQA has been the subject of much public debate and discussion in recent years, as both government agencies and private entrepreneurs in California have struggled to recover from staggering economic and fiscal challenges. In this case, the Court of Appeal has ordered the District to undertake an expensive, time-consuming, and duplicative environmental process that the District and its legal counsel thought was unnecessary based on years of statutory interpretation going back to the First District's own decision in *Bowman v. City of Petaluma* (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 1065 (*Bowman*).

In candor, both *Save Our Neighborhood* and the unpublished Opinion in this case are judicial outliers that are flatly inconsistent with the notion, stated in *Bowman*, that the Legislature, in enacting section 21166, meant to set a high bar for the preparation of SEIRs. As Division Four of the First District said in 1986, "Section 21166 is intended to provide a balance against the burdens created by the environmental review process and to accord a reasonable

measure of finality and certainty to the results achieved. This purpose appears not only from its prohibitory language ("no subsequent or supplemental environmental impact report . . . unless . . .") but also from legislative context and history." (Bowman, supra, 185 Cal.App.3d at p. 1074.)

This Court has not squarely interpreted and applied section 21166 since 1986, when the court explored statute of limitations issues arising under the statute in *Concerned Citizens of Costa Mesa, Inc. v. 32nd District Agricultural Assoc.* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 929, 936-940. However, the court did discuss the statute again in 1993 in dealing with analogous but distinct issues arising under section 21092.1, which governs the recirculation of EIRs. (*Laurel Heights Improvement Association v. Regents of the University of California* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1112, 1125, fn. 7, 1126-1130; see also Guidelines, § 15088.5.) In that context, this court had the following to say about section 21166:

In the case of a certified EIR, which is a prerequisite for application of section 21166, section 21167.2 mandates that the EIR be conclusively presumed valid unless a lawsuit has been timely brought to contest the validity of the EIR. This presumption acts to preclude reopening of the CEQA process even if the initial EIR is discovered to have been fundamentally inaccurate and misleading in the description of a significant effect or the severity of its consequences. After certification, the interests of finality are favored over the policy of encouraging public comment.

(6 Cal.4th at p. 1130.)

The Natural Resources Agency, through the CEQA Guidelines, and at least two Courts of Appeal have extended the application of section 21166 to cover situations in which the prior environmental document at issue was a negative declaration. (See Guidelines, §§ 15162-15164; *Benton* v. *Board of Supervisors* (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1467, 1477-1481 (*Benton*); *Abatti v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th

650, 651 (*Abatti*).) The District looks to this Court to expunge *Save Our Neighborhood* from CEQA case law.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED

Under CEQA¹, lead agencies often approve projects that are later subject to changed priorities or design plans. When such changes are necessary, an agency must determine whether to prepare subsequent environmental review under section 21166, and if so, which type of document is appropriate. Section 21166 establishes a presumption *against* the preparation of subsequent environmental impact reports, unless new or substantially worse environmental impacts would occur as a result of the changes to the previously reviewed project. If no new or substantially more severe significant impacts are identified, the lead agency need not prepare a subsequent EIR (or a supplement to an EIR). A lead agency may instead prepare a subsequent negative declaration, addendum, or no further documentation at all. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21166; Guidelines, §§ 15162, 15164.)

In this case, in early 2007, the District approved the CSM project after adopting an MND. That CEQA document was never challenged in court. Subsequently, due to changed circumstances and a lack of state funding, the District revised its plans for three of the buildings on campus, deciding to keep two buildings that were originally planned to be demolished, and later, to demolish a building and associated greenhouse, lath house, and landscaping (the Building 20 complex) that were originally planned to be renovated. The existing parking lot on the site would be expanded into Building 20 complex area instead, displacing about half of the existing landscaped area. The District considered the changes to the Building 20 complex in an

¹ All further unspecified statutory references are to the California Public Resources Code. All references to the "Guidelines" are to the CEQA Guidelines.

addendum prepared pursuant to Guidelines section 15164. The addendum concluded no new or substantially more severe significant environmental impacts would result from these revisions to the campus renovation plan. In fact, as a result of the revisions, less total building area would be demolished than originally planned in 2007. The District concluded that substantial evidence supported its environmental conclusions and its ultimate decision not to prepare a subsequent EIR.

The issue presented in this petition is the following: If a lead agency approves modifications to a previously reviewed and approved project through an addendum, may a court disregard the substantial evidence underlying the agency's decision to treat the proposed action as a change to a project rather than a new project, and go on to decide as a matter of law that the agency in fact approved a "new" project rather than a modification to a previously approved project, even though this "new project" test is nowhere described in CEQA or the Guidelines?

III. WHY REVIEW IS WARRANTED

The Court of Appeal's Opinion creates a need to secure uniformity of decision and settle a critical question law under CEQA: What is the appropriate level of deference due to agencies in subsequent review situations? CEQA, the Guidelines, and the great weight of relevant authority strongly suggests agencies are due significant deference under the substantial evidence standard when making determinations under Public Resources Code section 21166 and its implementing Guidelines. But a single outlier case (*Save Our Neighborhood*) and now this Opinion instead suggest, based on no authority, that a court may ignore substantial evidence in the record and entirely pass over the deferential section 21166 framework by finding, as a matter of law, that the agency has approved a new project, not a change to a previously reviewed project.

To avoid both public and private development being caught in an endless labyrinth of environmental review, CEQA and the Guidelines establish a presumption *against* requiring further environmental review once a lead agency has adopted or certified a review document in the first instance. When an agency has completed environmental review of a project, its decision whether to require additional review for modifications to the previously approved project is governed by section 21166 and Guidelines sections 15162, 15163, and 15164. But the Opinion nullifies the subsequent review test set out in section 21166 and its corresponding Guidelines. In nullifying this process, the Opinion will have an immediate and negative impact on the District and other public agencies and project applicants within the First Appellate District that must attempt to navigate the increasingly complex and multiple layers of CEQA review in the face of flatly contradictory Court of Appeal precedents.

IV. BACKGROUND

The District adopts the Court of Appeal's recitation of the factual and procedural background (Opn. 3-6), with the following additions and clarifications.

A. Statement of facts

The controversy in this case originates from the District's decision to approve what it believed were modifications to its previously studied and approved facility improvements across the whole of the College of San Mateo ("CSM Project"). These improvements included: enhancement of the campus entrance, pedestrian corridors, and plazas; internal traffic circulation improvements; renovation of existing buildings; demolition of obsolete buildings; construction of new and/or replacement buildings; and renovation and construction of new parking lots. [AR 1:3, 1:245-246.] In analyzing the CSM Project, the District considered the disposition of *every* building on the campus. In total, the District envisioned the demolition of up to 16 buildings.

[Administrative Record (AR) 1:245-246 (renovate or replace Building 1; demolish and replace Buildings 5, 6, 10, 11, 15 and 17; demolish Buildings 21-29).] The Project also described the construction of a new Wellness/Workforce/Aquatics Center and a new Student Center; and up to 10 buildings (including Building 20) were identified for renovation. [*Ibid.*] The IS/MND concluded that, with the implementation of mitigation measures, the CSM Project would not have a significant effect on the environment. [AR 1:341.] The Board adopted an IS/MND for the CSM Project on January 24, 2007, after circulating it for public comment. [AR 1:64, 1:393-394.] No member of the public commented during the review period. [AR 1:394.]

Several years after certification of the IS/MND for the CSM Project, the District failed to acquire state funding as originally contemplated for the Building 20 complex remodel. The District then revaluated the CSM Project and determined the space in the Building 20 complex was no longer needed for the College's current programs. [AR 1:12, 65, 396, 2:658.] The District determined that further environmental review of the possible impacts of these changes was required, and that an addendum was the proper document for that purpose. [AR 1:4-57.]

The proposed changes to the CSM Project at the Building 20 complex generated controversy. After drawing an initial lawsuit in June 2011, the District supplemented the analysis in its addendum to better explain the potential scope of the physical changes and to respond to the Plaintiff/Petitioner's concerns. [AR 1:65-66.] The revised addendum concluded that the Building 20 complex activities would not create new or substantially more severe significant aesthetic impacts because only a minor amount of landscaping loss was involved. [AR 3:1563.] The changes to the Building 20 complex included substantial retention and rehabilitation of existing landscaped areas surrounding Building 20. [AR 1:65-66, 3:1563.] The Building 20 complex currently contains approximately 55,995 square feet of lawn and landscaped area. [AR

1:80.] Under the District's proposal, the lawn and landscaped area will be reduced to approximately 45,565 square feet. [*Ibid.*] This 10,430-square-foot loss of landscaped area represents about 0.24 acres, or less than 0.33% (one third of one percent), of the total landscaped/open space area available on campus. [AR 1:72.] Less total building demolition would also occur than was assumed in the 2007 IS/MND because of the District's intervening decision to remodel rather than demolish Buildings 15 and 17. [AR 1:65, 1:245-246, 3:1563.]

A total of 13,000 square feet of asbestos-containing structures in the Building 20 complex would be demolished. [AR 1:72.] Compared to the amount of demolition originally envisioned for the CSM project in 2007, the proposed changes to the Building 20 complex would result in fewer buildings and less square footage of structures being demolished.

Under current conditions, impervious surfaces—buildings, asphalt parking, and sidewalks—cover approximately 48,840 square feet of the Building 20 complex. [AR 1:80.] Under the District's proposal, new asphalt parking and sidewalks would cover approximately 59,270 square feet, meaning only about 10,000 square feet of existing lawn/landscaped area will be displaced for paved surfaces. [*Ibid.*] For all of these reasons, the District concluded that an addendum, rather than a subsequent MND or EIR, would be appropriate for the proposed modification to the CSM Project concerning the disposition of the Building 20 complex.

The addendum was made available to the public along with the Board of Trustees' standard public meeting materials prior to the August 24, 2011, Board meeting.² [AR 4:2208 (email re: availability of Board packet, including addendum), 3:1397, 3:1398-1400, and 3:1401-1555 (August 24, 2011 Board packet).] The Board voted to adopt the revised addendum and

² CEQA Guidelines section 15164, subdivision (c), provides that "[a]n addendum need not be circulated for public review."

approve demolition of the Building 20 complex following public discussion at its August 24, 2011, meeting. [AR 3:1566.]

B. Procedural history

Friends again challenged the District's revised addendum, alleging that the District's approval of the modifications to the IS/MND prepared for the CSM Project via an addendum violated CEQA. The trial court granted the petition for writ of mandate and the District appealed. The First Appellate District, Division One, upheld the trial court's judgment, finding that the demolition of Building 20 must be treated as a "new project." The Court of Appeal did not reach the merits of Friends' contentions regarding the adequacy of the impacts analysis in the addendum.

V. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CLARIFY THE STANDARD OF REVIEW THAT APPLIES TO A LEAD AGENCY'S DECISION TO UTILIZE CEQA'S SUBSEQUENT REVIEW PROVISIONS.

CEQA is intended to function as an information disclosure statute by revealing to decision makers and the public the potential significant and adverse environmental impacts of an action proposed by a public agency. To facilitate this purpose, an agency proposing a project subject to CEQA must study and analyze the potential consequences of the action through one of several potential environmental review documents. This environmental review document could take the form of a simple negative declaration or a detailed and expansive environmental impact report ("EIR").

CEQA sets a relatively low threshold for requiring the preparation of an EIR for a project of first impression. Under this low threshold, if a fair argument based on substantial evidence can be made that a proposed project may have potentially significant and adverse environmental impacts, the lead agency must prepare an EIR. (Guidelines, § 15064, subd (a); see also *No Oil*,

Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1974) 13 Cal.3d 68, 75.) But where a lead agency has already completed environmental review and approved a project, CEQA establishes a presumption against further environmental review. Under this higher threshold, a subsequent EIR is not required absent the occurrence of new significant impacts or significant impacts that are substantially more severe than previously indicated, requiring major revisions of the previous EIR or negative declaration. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21166; Guidelines, § 15162, subd. (a).)

If major revisions to the previous document are required due to new or substantially more severe environmental impacts, the lead agency must prepare a subsequent EIR. Otherwise, the lead agency may decide whether to prepare a subsequent negative declaration, an addendum, or no further documentation. (Guidelines, § 15162, subd. (b).) An addendum to an adopted negative declaration is the appropriate document where a project undergoes some modifications or changes but "none of the conditions . . . calling for the preparation of a subsequent EIR or negative declaration have occurred." (Guidelines, § 15164, subd. (b).) An agency's decision not to require a subsequent EIR is subject to the substantial evidence standard of review.

(Guidelines, § 15064, subd. (f)(7)["The fair argument standard does not apply to determinations of significance pursuant to sections 15162, 15163, and 15164"].) In other words, if the agency's decision to rely on an addendum, or to prepare no further documentation rather than a subsequent EIR, is supported by substantial evidence in the record, courts must defer to the agency's decision even if a contrary conclusion could be reached. (Pub. Resouces Code, §§ 21168, 21168.5.)

Only a single, outlier case, *Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman*, supports the non-deferential "new project" inquiry used in the Opinion. This approach is not sanctioned anywhere in CEQA or the Guidelines. The Court of Appeal's choice to rely on *Save Our Neighorhood*

furthers the split among the appellate districts regarding the appropriate standard of review to apply to an agency's conclusions under section 21166. The result has troubling implications for lead agencies attempting in good faith to comply with CEQA. Public agencies reliant on fluctuating public funding, such as the District, are especially vulnerable to arbitrary judicial second-guessing of their decisions under section 21166.

A. The role of section 21166 in CEQA's environmental review process

Public Resources Code section 21166 is intended to offset the very low threshold CEQA establishes for requiring preparation of an EIR in the first instance. The section "provide[s] a balance against the burdens created by the environmental review process and to accord a reasonable measure of finality and certainty to the results achieved." (*Bowman*, *supra*, 185 Cal.App.3d at p. 1074.) Specifically, section 21166 provides:

When an environmental impact report has been prepared for a project pursuant to this division, no subsequent or supplemental environmental impact report shall be required by the lead agency or by any responsible agency, unless one or more of the following events occurs:

- (a) Substantial changes are proposed in the project which will require major revisions of the environmental impact report.
- (b) Substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is being undertaken which will require major revisions in the environmental impact report.
- (c) New information, which was not known and could not have been known at the time the environmental impact report was certified as complete, becomes available.

The Guidelines expand upon section 21166 to and provide further detail and guidance for the subsequent review process. Guidelines section 15162 mirrors the language of section 21166 while offering additional detail, laying out three circumstances under which a subsequent EIR must be prepared for a project:

(1) Substantial changes are proposed in the project which will require major revisions of the previous EIR or negative declaration due to the involvement of new significant

- environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects;
- (2) Substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is undertaken which will require major revisions of the previous EIR or negative declaration due to the involvement of new significant, environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; or
- (3) New information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the previous EIR was certified as complete or the negative declaration was adopted, shows any of the following:
 - (A) The project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the previous EIR or negative declaration;
 - (B) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe than shown in the previous EIR;
 - (C) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects of the project, but the project proponents decline to adopt the mitigation measure or alternative; or
 - (D) Mitigation measures or alternatives which are considerably different from those analyzed in the previous EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects on the environment, but the project proponents decline to adopt the mitigation measure or alternative.

(Guidelines, § 15162, subd. (a).)

Because this case involves changes to an approved project rather than changed circumstances or "new information of substantial importance," the relevant inquiry here is whether the District's project changes would "require major revisions of the previous . . . negative declaration due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects." The District proposed only the following changes to its previously reviewed CSM Project (which dictated the disposition of *every building* on campus): it would demolish rather than renovate Building 20, the greenhouse, and lath house, and install a new parking lot. The District prepared an addendum because the available evidence identified no "new significant environmental effects or a

substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects." (Guidelines, § 15162, subd. (a)(1).) An addendum is one of the several CEQA tools developed by the Office of Planning and Research for use by agencies. (Guidelines, §§ 15000, 15164.)

Guidelines section 15164, subdivision (b), describes the circumstances in which an agency may prepare an addendum to an adopted negative declaration. It sets forth two scenarios in which an addendum to an MND is appropriate: (1) "if only minor or technical changes or additions [to the prior analysis] are necessary," or (2) a subsequent EIR or negative declaration is not required under Guideline section 15162. Thus, if the conditions under section 15162 triggering a subsequent EIR or negative declaration the agency are not met, an addendum is appropriate. (See *Bowman, supra,* 185 Cal.App.3d at p. 1081 ["The question...is not whether an addendum was authorized, but whether a supplemental EIR was required"].) Courts review the agency's determination based on substantial evidence, regardless of the type of environmental review document initially certified. (Guidelines, § 15064, subd. (f)(7); see also *Benton, supra,* 226 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1473-1474, 1480-1481; *Snarled Traffic Obstructs Progress v. City and County of San Francisco* (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 793, 795-796, 800-802.)

As discussed in further detail below, many other cases support substantial evidence review of an agency's section 21166 conclusions. But the Opinion ignores this established standard and prior precedent from its own court to instead apply a "new project" test with no articulation of the factors the court considers relevant to the inquiry. This non-deferential "new project" test has no basis in the CEQA statute or Guidelines.

B. The Opinion exacerbates a split in authority by ignoring the great weight of cases interpreting section 21166 and instead relying on the sole outlier case, Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman.

The Opinion applies a "new project" test described and applied in only a single published case addressing section 21166 review, *Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman*. In doing so, the Opinion ignores the long line of cases holding that the substantial evidence standard of review applies to an agency's decision made under to section 21166. Further, the Opinion mischaracterizes the facts of the single section 21166 case it acknowledges and attempts to distinguish, *Fund for Environmental Defense v. County of Orange* (1988) 204 Cal.App.3d 1538. This Opinion leaves all agencies within the First Appellate District (and specifically, the community college district) with considerable uncertainty regarding the relevant circumstances to consider in deciding when the preparation of an addendum is appropriate.

1. The Opinion ignores numerous cases holding substantial evidence applies to the review of an agency's 21166 determinations, including the decision to prepare an addendum.

An earlier decision of the First District provides an example of proper application of the substantial evidence standard of review to an agency's determination under section 21166. In *Bowman*, *supra*, 185 Cal.App.3d 1065, after certification of an EIR for a residential project, the respondent city proposed modifications to the project's traffic design, updated its environmental package, including a traffic report, and reapproved the original EIR as amended. Although the trial court held that subsequent environmental review was required, the Court of Appeal disagreed, noting that "[t]he trial court made no attempt to distinguish between noise effects attributable to the project as a whole and those caused by project revisions." (*Id.* at p. 1079.) Instead, the court determined that nothing in the record indicated modifications to the project were responsible for any significant increase in adverse impacts. (*Id.* at pp. 1079-1080.) The city's conclusions under section 21166 were upheld based on substantial evidence in the record.

(*Id.* at pp. 1081-1082, 1085.) The Opinion challenged here fails to distinguish or even discuss *Bowman*, despite the District's references to it in briefing.³

In Santa Teresa Citizens Action Group v. Santa Clara Valley Water District (2003) 114

Cal.App.4th 689, a recycled water pipeline project was revised to follow an entirely different route than previously assumed and studied. The respondent city evaluated the new route and concluded that previously adopted mitigation measures would avoid groundwater impacts. The city found there were no new significant environmental effects, nor any substantial increases in the severity of previously identified effects, and adopted an addendum to an existing EIR for the recycled water system. (Id. at pp. 698-699.) The petitioners argued the previous EIR did not consider the geologic differences between the old and new pipeline routes or the presence of certain toxic substances in the recycled water. The Court of Appeal held that the deferential substantial evidence standard applied to the petitioners' claims. (Id. at p. 703.) The court then compared the old and new pipeline routes and concluded that neither the petitioners nor the record demonstrated the changed route or circumstances surrounding the project were so significantly different that new or more severe impacts would result. (Id. at pp. 704-705.)

Here, similarly, the District argued an addendum was appropriate because the District was changing its plans for one area of its campus that had been previously analyzed for its CSM Project, and substantial evidence showed no new or more severe environmental impacts would result from the changes. The Opinion fails to address how the circumstances at hand are distinguishable from those at issue in *Santa Teresa*.

³ The Opinion also fails to cite or distinguish its own decisions in the *Benton* and *STOP* cases (see section V.A, *supra*).

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