Civil No. S214061

NOV **26** 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFOR NIPAK A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

FRIENDS OF THE COLLEGE OF SAN MATEO GARDENS,

CRC 8:25(b)

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SAN MATEO COUNTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants

After an Unpublished Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division One Civil Number A135892

Affirming the Ruling by the Honorable Clifford Cretan San Mateo County Superior Court Case No. CIV 508656

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Susan Brandt-Hawley / SBN 75907 Brandt-Hawley Law Group P.O. Box 1659 Glen Ellen, CA 95442 707.938.3900, fax 707.938.3200 susanbh@preservationlawyers.com

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

Discussion

Following extensive campus redevelopment in recent years, the mature gardens and botanical collections within the Building 20 Complex continue to provide an evocative historic vernacular landscape and unique campus gathering-place. The gardens' plant and wildlife habitat also provide a valuable teaching venue. As explained by a College professor,

... the Garden is the only place left on campus where students, faculty, and staff can go to get away from the concrete and rigid plots of monoculture plantings that have taken over the campus, where we can enjoy nature's kindness, bounty, and wonder, relax, sit on the grass, and leisurely explore and experience its mini-climates and ecosystems so carefully nurtured over the past 40 years.

(Administrative Record (AR) 4:1997.)

"The trees on campus may not be put into a tree museum, but trustees for the College of San Mateo did vote ... to pave at least 20,000 square feet of paradise to put up a parking lot ..." Student Nick Carlozzi, who writes music in the "habitat where hundreds of plants — from the ancient Bunya-Bunya, to the rare Fragrant Pitcher Sage — attract wildlife, bees, hawks and herons" explained that "it's a really peaceful place now. A beautiful place." (AR5:2610, San Francisco Chronicle, May 21, 2011; see AR 2:1835, referencing Joni Mitchell's 1970 song [Big Yellow Taxi] and

the refrain, "pave paradise, put up a parking lot...")

The College District treated the proposed demolition of the Building 20 complex and gardens as part of its College of San Mateo/CSM Project approved in 2007 on the basis of a mitigated negative declaration. At that time, the District determined to rehabilitate the structurally-sound complex and to retain the gardens. (AR 1:9-10, 64-66; 3:1687.)



(AR 5:2607 [Portion of the South Garden].)

The District changed course and pursued demolition of the Building 20 Complex and gardens in 2011 to expand the parking lot adjacent to the complex. (AR 1:9-10.) To do so, it prepared an addendum to the 2007 mitigated negative declaration adopted for the CSM project. (AR 1:10-12,

4-213.) Students, faculty members, and community members passionately objected to the newly-proposed demolition project and the associated addendum. (AR 1:459; 2:609-611, 633, 719-721, 738-755, 774-776; 4:1952-1963, 1971-2010, 2012-2020.)

Among other things, the District's unstudied plans to relocate and replant some of the gardens' existing mature plants were decried as impractical and likely to fail. (AR 4:1972.) And while the District touted a large percentage of the garden that it promised to retain, its descriptions were misleading and equated questionable re-plantings with well-established specimens. (Respondents' Brief, pp. 30-35.)

"CEQA compels process. It is a meticulous process designed to ensure that the environment is protected ... the EIR is the heart and soul of CEQA." (*Planning and Conservation League v. Department of Water Resources* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 892, 911.) Instead of requiring the preparation of a new environmental document, and without studying any alternatives to its parking needs, the District approved the demolition and parking lot project based on the addendum. (AR 3:1566, 1569-1625.)

As affirmed by the First District Court of Appeal, the District's unstudied approval of the new Building 20 complex demolition project was error and the peremptory writ properly issued. Addenda are not allowed for

new projects. The salutary protections of CEQA mandate environmental review in a public process, considering environmental impacts and feasible mitigations and alternatives that may reduce or avoid adverse impacts to Building 20 and the marvelous Gardens.

Conclusion

This appeal was correctly and thoughtfully decided. The Slip Opinion's treatment of proposed demolition as a new project is well-supported. And even if demolition of the CSM Building 20 complex and gardens were to be considered as a changed project rather than a new project, the addendum was inadequate. Rather than illustrating misuse of codified procedures, the peremptory writ will result in environmental protection and agency accountability within CEQA's required public process. There is no need for this Court's review to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law.

The Petition for Review should be denied.

Counsel's Certificate of Word Count per Word:mac²⁰¹¹:

November 25, 2013